UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN

Environmental DNA - An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity

Thomsen, Philip Francis; Willerslev, Eske

Published in: Biological Conservation

DOI: 10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.019

Publication date: 2015

Document version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Document license: CC BY-NC-ND

Citation for published version (APA): Thomsen, P. F., & Willerslev, E. (2015). Environmental DNA - An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity. *Biological Conservation, 183*, 4-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.019 Biological Conservation 183 (2015) 4-18

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Biological Conservation

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biocon

Special Issue Article: Environmental DNA

Environmental DNA – An emerging tool in conservation for monitoring past and present biodiversity

Philip Francis Thomsen, Eske Willerslev*

Centre for GeoGenetics, Natural History Museum of Denmark, University of Copenhagen, Øster Voldgade 5-7, DK-1350 Copenhagen, Denmark

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 28 February 2014 Received in revised form 4 November 2014 Accepted 10 November 2014 Available online 18 December 2014

Keywords: Environmental DNA eDNA DNA metabarcoding Conservation Biodiversity Monitoring Extinction

ABSTRACT

The continuous decline in Earth's biodiversity represents a major crisis and challenge for the 21st century, and there is international political agreement to slow down or halt this decline. The challenge is in large part impeded by the lack of knowledge on the state and distribution of biodiversity – especially since the majority of species on Earth are un-described by science. All conservation efforts to save biodiversity essentially depend on the monitoring of species and populations to obtain reliable distribution patterns and population size estimates. Such monitoring has traditionally relied on physical identification of species by visual surveys and counting of individuals. However, traditional monitoring techniques remain problematic due to difficulties associated with correct identification of cryptic species or juvenile life stages, a continuous decline in taxonomic expertise, non-standardized sampling, and the invasive nature of some survey techniques. Hence, there is urgent need for alternative and efficient techniques for large-scale biodiversity monitoring. Environmental DNA (eDNA) - defined here as: genetic material obtained directly from environmental samples (soil, sediment, water, etc.) without any obvious signs of biological source material - is an efficient, non-invasive and easy-to-standardize sampling approach. Coupled with sensitive, cost-efficient and ever-advancing DNA sequencing technology, it may be an appropriate candidate for the challenge of biodiversity monitoring. Environmental DNA has been obtained from ancient as well as modern samples and encompasses single species detection to analyses of ecosystems. The research on eDNA initiated in microbiology, recognizing that culture-based methods grossly misrepresent the microbial diversity in nature. Subsequently, as a method to assess the diversity of macro-organismal communities, eDNA was first analyzed in sediments, revealing DNA from extinct and extant animals and plants, but has since been obtained from various terrestrial and aquatic environmental samples. Results from eDNA approaches have provided valuable insights to the study of ancient environments and proven useful for monitoring contemporary biodiversity in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. In the future, we expect the eDNA-based approaches to move from single-marker analyses of species or communities to meta-genomic surveys of entire ecosystems to predict spatial and temporal biodiversity patterns. Such advances have applications for a range of biological, geological and environmental sciences. Here we review the achievements gained through analyses of eDNA from macro-organisms in a conservation context, and discuss its potential advantages and limitations for biodiversity monitoring.

© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND licenses (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction					
2.						
	2.1.	Ancien	t environments	3		
		2.1.1.	Terrestrial sediments	5		
		2.1.2.	Aquatic sediments)		
		2.1.3.	Ice cores)		
	2.2.	Moderi	n environments)		

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +45 28751309.

E-mail addresses: pfthomsen@snm.ku.dk (P.F. Thomsen), ewillerslev@snm.ku.dk (E. Willerslev).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.019 0006-3207/© 2015 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).









	2.2.1. Surface soil	10
	2.2.2. Freshwater	. 10
	2.2.3. Seawater	. 11
3.	Ancient environments and extinctions	11
4.	Pitfalls and challenges for eDNA	11
	4.1. Contamination	11
	4.2. Inhibition	12
	4.3. Errors	12
	4.4. Reference DNA databases	12
	4.5. Single species detection vs. DNA metabarcoding	12
	4.6. Interpretation of results	13
	4.7. What is the temporal and spatial scale?	13
	4.8. Skepticism	13
	4.9. Future directions?	13
5.	Perspectives of eDNA	14
	Acknowledgements	14
	References	14

1. Introduction

The continuous decline in Earth's biodiversity remains one of the most critical challenges in the 21st century (Butchart et al., 2010). Worldwide, populations of wild flora and fauna are being depleted due to anthropogenic disturbances (Barnosky et al., 2011; Dirzo et al., 2014) and species extinctions rates exceed those of pre-human periods (Pimm et al., 1995; Barnosky et al., 2011), which greatly impacts human health and sustainability of our planet (Diaz et al., 2006). Although knowledge on biodiversity is incomplete or even un-described for numerous taxa and geographical regions (Vié et al., 2009), there is international political agreement to halt the current loss in biodiversity (UNEP, 2011). All such conservation efforts to save biodiversity essentially depend on biological monitoring for obtaining precise data on species distributions and population sizes on a relevant ecological and political time scale. Species monitoring has traditionally relied on physical identification of species by, for example, visual surveys and counting of individuals in the field using distinct morphological characters. However, in some cases these techniques fall short of actually performing efficient and standardized surveys, due to, for example, phenotypic plasticity and closely related species with very similar appearance in juvenile stages. Thus, there are examples of species databases flawed with errors (Daan, 2001). Additionally, traditional monitoring techniques have sometimes proven to be invasive on the species or ecosystem under study, such as marine surveys that has relied on highly destructive techniques (Baldwin et al., 1996; Jones, 1992), although see Robertson and Smith-Vaniz (2008). Furthermore, morphological identification is heavily dependent on taxonomic expertise, which is often lacking or in rapid decline (Hopkins and Freckleton, 2002; Wheeler et al., 2004). All such limitations of traditional biodiversity monitoring have created demand for alternative approaches.

Obtaining information of species, populations and communities by retrieving DNA from environmental samples (*environmental DNA* – *eDNA*) holds the potential of combating many of these challenges associated with biodiversity monitoring (Baird and Hajibabaei, 2012; Kelly et al., 2014b). The fact that DNA from higher organisms persists in the environment, where it can be sampled, extracted and analyzed, has been a major technological and scientific breakthrough within the last decade (Fig. 1). As species interact with the environment, they will continuously expel DNA to their surroundings. For higher organisms, this DNA may come from excreted cells or tissue such as urine (e.g. Valiere and Taberlet, 2000), faeces (e.g. Poinar et al., 1998), hairs and skin (e.g. Bunce et al., 2005; Lydolph et al., 2005), and obviously from dead individuals leaking genetic material. The macrobial eDNA may in some systems exists predominantly inside mitochondria or small cells (Turner et al., 2014), but owing to eventual membrane degradation, extracellular DNA will also be present in the environment (Nielsen et al., 2007). Once DNA is left in the environment, its preservation, and thus availability, varies with several orders of magnitude from weeks in temperate water (Dejean et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012b) to hundreds of thousands of years in cold, dry permafrost (e.g. Willerslev et al., 2003). Accordingly, eDNA has been used to address applied and fundamental research questions within areas ranging from molecular biology, ecology, palaeontology and environmental sciences.

Within a single standardized sample, DNA from entire communities across taxonomic groups can potentially be analyzed simultaneously. The content of an eDNA sample is typically analyzed by amplification using polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and subsequent DNA sequencing. The amplification is done either by a single-species approach using specific primers or by multiplespecies (multiple-taxon) approach using generic primers for a given focal group of organisms. Especially the fast advancing next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies has made comprehensive biodiversity surveys possible for limited effort and costs (Shokralla et al., 2012). It has thus made the multiple-species eDNA approach especially powerful by DNA metabarcoding - mass DNA sequencing for the simultaneous molecular identification of multiple taxa in a complex sample (Taberlet et al., 2012a). Although similar in principle to classical DNA barcoding of simple DNA extracts (Hebert et al., 2003), the practical approach and target sequence is very different. While both rely on the fact that short standardized DNA regions - typically mitochondrial, chloroplast or ribosomal RNA (rRNA) genes - can be amplified by PCR, sequenced and subsequently used as barcodes to identify and discriminate taxons, DNA metabarcoding cannot efficiently utilize protein coding genes such as cytochrome oxidase I (COI), since interspecific genetic variation impedes the use of universal primers (Deagle et al., 2014). Also, proposed standardized DNA barcodes are usually >500 bp and seem to reach consensus on the mitochondrial COI for animals (Hebert et al., 2003), the plastid ribulose 1,5bisphosphate carboxylase gene (rbcL) and the maturase K gene (matK) for plants (Hollingsworth et al., 2009) and the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) for fungi (Nilsson et al., 2009; Bellemain et al., 2010; Schoch et al., 2012). These target genes have basically been chosen due to their high resolution at the species level, but high copy number per cell of mitochondria, chloroplasts and rRNA genes also make them useful in eDNA studies, since they are more likely to be picked up than single-copy nuclear DNA. However, as



Fig. 1. The overall workflow for environmental DNA (eDNA) studies with examples of organisms that have been identified from environmental samples. Environments and their respective samplings from left to right: (i) glaciers; (ii) permafrost/tundra; (iii) aquatic sediments; (iv) lakes and streams; (v) terrestrial habitats; (vi) oceans. The first three are ancient environments while the latter three are modern. Color codes of arrows represent the different steps in the analyses: (blue) environmental sampling (ice cores, soil/sediment core samples, freshwater/seawater samples); (green) DNA extraction using procedures specific for the individual type of sample; (orange) PCR amplification of extracted DNA using generic or species-specific primers targeting biodiversity and subsequent sequencing of amplicons (here shown as Illumina MiSeq technology); (red) bioinformatic data-processing including error trimming, sequence sorting, and identification pipelines leading to various taxonomic level or MOTUs and the final interpretation and publication of results. Drawing by Lars Holm.

DNA from environmental samples, especially ancient samples, is often fragmented (e.g. Deagle et al., 2006; Willerslev and Cooper, 2005), analyses must rely on shorter DNA fragments than the traditional defined barcoding regions (e.g. Taberlet et al., 2007; Riaz et al., 2011; Epp et al., 2012). If DNA database coverage is low or taxons are unknown, target sequences are typically clustered into *Molecular Operational Taxonomic Units* (MOTUs). Yet, for less species-rich groups in low-biodiversity areas, a much shorter barcode sequence can prove informative at the species level, which permits eDNA metabarcoding with high taxonomic resolution (Bienert et al., 2012; Thomsen et al., 2012a).

Here we review and discuss the achievements of eDNA approaches in ancient and contemporary ecosystems for describing past biodiversity and for use in practical present-day conservation, respectively. We focus this paper on eDNA from macroorganisms (animals, plants and fungi) as they are the key target in conservation. We define eDNA as: genetic material obtained directly from environmental samples (soil, sediment, water, etc.) without any obvious signs of biological source material. In order to keep this focus, which is the topic of the current journal special issue, we exclude related studies of other complex samples such as faecal samples for assessment of biodiversity and diet content (e.g. Pompanon et al., 2012; Schnell et al., 2012; Valentini et al., 2009a) as well as analyses of arthropod bulk samples (e.g. Calvignac-Spencer et al., 2013; Hajibabaei et al., 2011; Ji et al., 2013), which apply very similar techniques and also have direct applications for conservation. Environmental DNA as defined here is thus an approach to obtain genetic material from the environment, on which a collection of molecular methodologies and analyses tools (such as DNA metabarcoding) subsequently can be applied to answer questions in e.g. palaeontology, ecology and conservation biology.

2. Achievements of eDNA

"Environmental DNA" arose with the idea of obtaining nucleic acids of microbes directly from environmental samples (Ogram et al., 1987; Olsen et al., 1986; Pace et al., 1986). This idea came from the recognition, that culture-based methods grossly misrepresent the composition of microbial populations as they occur in nature due to the fact that many microbes cannot be cultured, and eDNA thus represents a unique access to information on their genetic makeup (Brock, 1987). Later, eDNA from microorganisms has since been studied extensively in soil (e.g. Fierer and Jackson, 2006), permafrost (Johnson et al., 2007; Willerslev et al., 2004), freshwater (e.g. Fisher and Triplett, 1999) and seawater (e.g. Venter et al., 2004), which has given valuable insights to bacterial diversity (e.g. Zinger et al., 2011) and functional genomics (Tringe et al., 2005).

The discovery of diverse eDNA from macro-organisms established the approach as truly relevant in a conservation setting, and have been shown in several different environments both ancient and modern, terrestrial and aquatic (Fig. 1, Table 1). The nature of DNA from macro-organisms in environmental samples is different from targeting microbial organisms (prokaryotes and microbial eukaryotes), as the former is present only as parts of the organism (cellular remains or free DNA), whereas the latter may be detected by DNA deriving from whole, living organisms present in the samples.

2.1. Ancient environments

2.1.1. Terrestrial sediments

Environmental DNA as a method to assess the diversity of macro-organismal communities was first applied to sediments,

Table 1

Macro-organismal environmental DNA (eDNA) studies reviewed in this paper.

Source	References	Title	Sample habitat	Taxons studied	Geographical location	Aproximate ages (years BP)
Terrestrial sediments	Willerslev et al. (2003)	Diverse plant and animal genetic records from Holocene and Pleistocene sediments	Cave sediments, permafrost	Mammals, birds, plants	New Zealand; Siberia	Present – 400,000
	Hofreiter et al. (2003)	Molecular caving	Cave sediments	Mammals, birds	Arizona, USA	ca. 10,845
	Lydolph et al. (2005)	Beringian paleoecology inferred from permafrost- preserved fungal DNA	Permafrost	Fungi, plants, protists	Siberia	Present – 300,000– 400,000
	Haile et al. (2007)	Ancient DNA chronology within sediment deposits: Are paleobiological reconstructions possible and is DNA leaching a factor?	Cave sediments	Birds, plants	New Zealand	Present – 3300
	Haile et al. (2009)	Ancient DNA reveals late survival of mammoth and horse in interior Alaska	Perennially frozen sediments	Mammals	Alaska, USA	ca. 7000–11,000
	Thomsen et al. (2009)	Non-destructive sampling of ancient insect DNA	Temperate dry sediments	Insects	New Zealand	3000
	Hebsgaard et al. (2009)	'The farm beneath the sand' – an archaeological case study on ancient 'dirt' DNA	Sand sediment	Mammals	South-west Greenland	AD 1030-1530
	Sønstebø et al. (2010)	Using next-generation sequencing for molecular reconstruction of past Arctic vegetation and climate	Permafrost	Plants	Siberia	15,810–22,960 (uncal.)
	Epp et al. (2012)	New environmental metabarcodes for analyzing soil DNA: potential for studying past and present ecosystems	Soil, permafrost	Fungi, bryophytes, enchytraeids, beetle, birds	Norway; Siberia	Present, ca. 16,000– 50,000
	Jørgensen et al. (2012)	A comparative study of ancient sedimentary DNA, pollen and macrofossils from permafrost sediments of northern Siberia reveals long-term vegetational stability	Permafrost	Plants	Siberia	12,500-46,000
	Jørgensen et al. (2012)	Islands in the ice: detecting past vegetation on Greenlandic nunataks using historical records and sedimentary ancient DNA meta-barcoding	Nunatak sediments	Plants	Southern Greenland	5528
	Willerslev et al. (2014)	Fifty thousand years of Arctic vegetation and megafaunal diet	Permafrost, soil	Plants, nematodes	Russia, Canada, Alaska, Svalbard	Present – 50,000
Aquatic sediments	Bhadury et al. (2006)	Molecular detection of marine nematodes from environmental samples: overcoming eukaryotic interference	Marine and estuarine sediments	Nematodes	England	Present
	Fonseca et al. (2010)	Second-generation environmental sequencing unmasks marine metazoan biodiversity	Marine beach sediments	Diverse metazoans	Scotland	Present?
	Pawlowski et al. (2011)	Eukaryotic richness in the abyss: insights from pyrotag sequencing	Marine sediments	Diverse eucaryotes	Weddell Sea; Arctic Ocean	Unknown?
	Chariton et al. (2010)	Ecological assessment of estuarine sediments by pyrosequencing eukaryotic ribosomal DNA	Estuarine sediments	Diverse eucaryotes	Sydney, Australia	Present
	Anderson-Carpenter et al. (2011)	Ancient DNA from lake sediments: bridging the gap between paleoecology and genetics	Lake sediment	Deciduous trees	Michigan; Wisconsin, USA	Up to ca. 3500
	Matisoo-Smith et al. (2008)	Recovery of DNA and pollen from NZ lake sediments	Lake sediment	Fish (probably gobiomorphus cotidianus)	New Zealand	AD 217–247
	Pedersen et al. (2013)	A comparative study of ancient environmental DNA to pollen and macrofossils from lake sediments reveals taxonomic overlap and additional plant taxa	Lake sediment	Plants	South Greenland	Present – 10,500
	Parducci et al. (2012) Parducci et al. (2013)	Glacial survival of boreal trees in Northern Scandinavia Molecular- and pollen-based vegetation analysis in lake sediments from central Scandinavia	Lake sediment Lake sediment	Trees (pine and spruce) Plants	Norway Norway; Sweden	6500–22,000 900–10,400
	Giguet-Covex et al. (2014)	Long livestock farming history and human landscape shaping revealed by lake sediment DNA	Lake sediment	Domestic mammals, plants	France	Present – 5000
Ice	Willerslev et al. (1999) Willerslev et al. (2007)	Diversity of Holocene life forms in fossil glacier ice Ancient biomolecules from deep ice cores reveal a forested Southern Greenland	Holocene ice cores Pleistocene ice cores	Plants, fungi, algae, protists Plants, arthropods	Northern Greenland Southern Greenland	2000–4 000 Between ca. 450,000–800,000
Soil	O'Brien et al. (2005)	Fungal community analysis by large-scale sequencing of environmental samples	Forest soil	Fungi	North Carolina, USA	Present
	Buee et al. (2009)	454 Pyrosequencing analyses of forest soils reveal an	Forest soil	Fungi	France	Present

(continued on next page)

Table 1 (continued)

Source	References	Title	Sample habitat	Taxons studied	Geographical location	Aproximate ages (years BP)
		unexpectedly high fungal diversity				
	Yoccoz et al. (2012)	DNA from soil mirrors plant taxonomic and growth form diversity	Boreal, temperate and tropical soil	Plants	Norway; France; French Guiana	Present
	Taberlet et al. (2012)	Soil sampling and isolation of extracellular DNA from large amount of starting material suitable for matabareoding studies	Grassland soil	Plants	France	Present
	Bienert et al. (2012)	Tracking earthworm communities from soil DNA	Soil	Farthworms	France	Present
	Andersen et al. (2012)	Meta-barcoding of 'dirt' DNA from soil reflects vertebrate biodiversity	Soil from animal enclosuers	Mammals	Denmark	Present
Freshwater	Martellini et al. (2005)	Use of eukaryotic mitochondrial DNA to differentiate human, bovine, porcine and ovine sources in fecally contaminated surface water	Wastewater, rivers	Human, cow, pig, sheep	Quebec, Canada	Present
	Ficetola et al. (2008)	Species detection using environmental DNA from water samples	Ponds, artificial containers	Amphibians (american bull frog)	France	Present
	Jerde et al. (2011)	"Sight-unseen" detection of rare aquatic species using environmental DNA	Rivers	Fish	Illinois, USA	Present
	Goldberg et al. (2011)	Molecular detection of vertebrates in stream water: a demonstration using rocky mountain tailed frogs and IDAHO giant salamanders	Streams	Amphibians	Idaho, USA	Present
	Dejean et al. (2011)	Persistence of environmental DNA in freshwater ecosystems	Artificial ponds and containers	Amphibians, fish	France	Present
	Thomsen et al. (2012)	Monitoring endangered freshwater biodiversity using environmental DNA	Ponds, lakes, streams, artificial containers	Amphibians, fish, mammals, insects, crustaceans	Northern Europe	Present
	Takahara et al. (2012)	Estimation of fish biomass using environmental DNA	Lagoon, artificial ponds and containers	Fish	Japan	Present
	Minamoto et al. (2011)	Surveillance of fish species composition using environmental DNA	Rivers, dammed pool, artificial containers	Fish	Japan	Present
	Dejean et al. (2012)	Improved detection of an alien invasive species through environmental DNA barcoding: the example of the American bullfrog <i>Lithobates catesbeianus</i>	Ponds	Amphibians (american bull frog)	France	Present
	Pilliod et al. (2013)	Estimating occupancy and abundance of stream amphibians using environmental DNA from filtered water samples	Streams	Amphibians	Idaho, USA	Present
	Wilcox et al. (2013)	Robust detection of rare species using environmental DNA: the importance of primer specificity	Streams	Fish (brook trout)	Montana, USA	Present
	Olson et al. (2013)	An eDNA approach to detect eastern hellbenders (Cryptobranchus a. alleganiensis) using samples of water	Rivers	Amphibians (eastern hellbender)	Indiana; Missouri, USA	Present
	Santas et al. (2013)	Noninvasive method for a statewide survey of Eastern Hellbenders <i>Cryptobranchus alleganiensis</i> using environmental DNA	Rivers, streams, creeks	Amphibians (eastern hellbender)	Ohio; Kentucky, USA	Present
	Goldberg et al. (2013)	Environmental DNA as a new method for early detection of New Zealand mudsnails (<i>Potamopyrgus antipodarum</i>)	River, artificial containers	Mollusk (new zealand mudsnail)	Idaho, USA	Present
	Takahara et al. (2013)	Using environmental DNA to estimate the distribution of an invasive fish species in ponds	Ponds	Fish (bluegill sunfish)	Japan	Present
	Mahon et al. (2013)	Validation of eDNA surveillance sensitivity for detection of Asian carps in controlled and field experiments	Rivers	Fish	Illinois, USA	Present
	Jerde et al. (2013)	Detection of Asian carp DNA as part of a Great Lakes basin-wide surveillance program	Lakes, rivers	Fish	Illinois, USA	Present
	Egan et al. (2013)	Rapid invasive species detection by combining environmental DNA with light transmission spectroscopy	Lakes	Mollusk (zebra mussel)	Michigan, USA	Present
	Piaggio et al. (2014)	Detecting an elusive invasive species: a diagnostic PCR to detect Burmese python in Florida waters and an assessment of persistence of environmental DNA	Wetlands, artificial containers	Reptiles (burmese python)	Florida, USA	Present

Barnes et al. (2014)	Environmental conditions influence eDNA persistence in aquatic systems	Artificial containers	Fish (common carp)	Indiana, USA	Present
Turner et al. (2014)	Particle size distribution and optimal capture of aqueous macrobial eDNA	Lakes, artificial containers	Fish (common carp)	Indiana, USA	Present
Deiner and Altermatt (2014)	Transport distance of invertebrate environmental DNA in a natural river.	River	Crustacean, mussel	Switzerland	Present
Pilliod et al. (2014)	Factors influencing detection of eDNA from a stream- dwelling amphibian	Streams	Amphibian (idaho giant salamander)	Idaho, USA	Present
Tréguier et al. (2014)	Environmental DNA surveillance for invertebrate species: advantages and technical limitations to detect invasive crayfish <i>Procambarus clarkii</i> in freshwater ponds	Ponds	Crustacean (red swamp crayfish)	France	Present
Jane et al. (2014)	Distance, flow and PCR inhibition: eDNA dynamics in two headwater streams	Streams	Fish (brook trout)	Massachusetts, USA	Present
Biggs et al. (2015)	Using eDNA to develop a national citizen science-based monitoring programme for the Great Crested Newt (Triturus cristatus)	Ponds	Amphibians (great crested newt)	England, Wales, Scotland	Present
Deiner et al. (2015)	Choice of capture and extraction methods affect detection of freshwater biodiversity from environmental DNA	Lakes, rivers	Crustaceans, insects, mussels, general eucaryotes	Switzerland	Present
Klymus et al. (2015)	Quantification of eDNA shedding rates from invasive bighead carp Hypophthalmichthys nobilis and silver carp Hypophthalmichthys molitrix	Artificial containers	Fish (carps)	Missouri, USA	Present
McKee et al. (2015)	Evaluation of three simple treatments for the removal of quantitative PCR inhibition in environmental DNA samples	Wetlands	Sample spiked with target amphibian dna	Florida; Georgia; S. Carolina, USA	Present
Sigsgaard et al. (2015)	Monitoring the near-extinct European weather loach in Denmark based on environmental DNA from water samples	Streams	Fish (weather loach)	Denmark	Present
Strickler et al. (2015)	Quantifying effects of UV-B, temperature, and pH on eDNA degradation in aquatic microcosms	Artificial containers	Amphibians (american bull frog)	Idaho, USA	Present
Takahara et al. (2015)	Effects of sample processing on the detection rate of environmental DNA from the Common Carp (Cyprinus carpio)	Ponds	Fish (common carp)	Japan	Present
Turner et al. (2015)	Fish environmental DNA is more concentrated in aquatic sediments than surface water	Ponds, rivers	Fish (bigheaded carp)	Missouri; Indiana; Kansas, USA	Present
Thomsen et al. (2012)	Detection of a diverse marine fish fauna using environmental DNA from seawater samples	Coastal water	Fish	Denmark	Present
Foote et al. (2012)	Investigating the potential use of environmental DNA (eDNA) for genetic monitoring of marine mammals	Ocean, marine enclosure	Whales	Denmark	Present
Kelly et al. (2014)	Using environmental DNA to census marine fishes in a large mesocosm	Sea-tank mesocosm	Fish	California, USA	Present

Seawater

revealing DNA from extinct and extant mammals, birds and plants (Willerslev et al., 2003), followed by dry cave sediments, revealing DNA from past cave-dwelling mammals and birds (Hofreiter et al., 2003). Later, it was shown that also DNA from invertebrates such as insects (Epp et al., 2012; Thomsen et al., 2009) as well as fungi (Lydolph et al., 2005) is also preserved in ancient sediments. This so-called 'sedimentary ancient DNA' (sedaDNA or dirtDNA) has been shown to be of local origin, and organisms must be physically present at the site for their DNA to be deposited (Andersen et al., 2012; Haile et al., 2009; Lydolph et al., 2005; Yoccoz et al., 2012). DNA leaching through strata has not been observed in ancient frozen sediments (Hansen et al., 2006; Willerslev et al., 2007, 2004) or recently (<1000 years old) frozen sediments (Hebsgaard et al., 2009), but may occur between layers in non-frozen depositional settings (Andersen et al., 2012; Haile et al., 2007). Sedimentary eDNA has been speculated to derive from faeces, urine, epidermal cells and hair, which is based on the presence of DNA from coprophilic and keratinophilic fungi found in ancient sediments (Lydolph et al., 2005). The effectiveness of NGS techniques to reconstruct paleo-ecosystems from permafrost samples has been demonstrated to reveal rich diversity in past flora (Sønstebø et al., 2010) and study recent environmental change in Greenland (Jørgensen et al., 2012b). However, some results indicate that physical remains such as pollen and macrofossils are complementary rather than overlapping with *seda*DNA, and in combination, reveal more detailed information on ancient plant communities than can be achieved by each individual approach (Jørgensen et al., 2012a; Parducci et al., 2013).

2.1.2. Aquatic sediments

Aquatic sediments (freshwater and marine) have also proven to be rich in eDNA. In fact, the extracellular DNA in marine sediments is considered by far the largest reservoir of DNA in the oceans (Dell'Anno and Danovaro, 2005), and especially anoxic conditions reduce nuclease degradation and favours long-term preservation of eDNA (Corinaldesi et al., 2011). For example, Bhadury et al. (2006) studied eDNA from nematodes, as an indicator of the meiofauna. in marine and estuarine sediments. Also, eDNA from estuarine sediments have been used to compare eukaryotic species assemblages to assess human impacts on these ecosystems (Chariton et al., 2010). Later and more comprehensive analyses of eDNA from marine benthic (Fonseca et al., 2010) and deep-sea sediments (Pawlowski et al., 2011) have deployed NGS, revealing differences in metazoan diversity at microgeographical scales and DNA from all major groups of eukaryotes and most marine metazoan groups, respectively.

Matisoo-Smith et al. (2008) was, as far as we know, the first study to show that freshwater lake sediment, traditionally used for pollen records, also contain macro-organismal eDNA – in this case from fish. Later Anderson-Carpenter et al. (2011) successfully amplified plant DNA from up to 4600 years old freshwater lake sediment samples, and found that the results matched the taxonomic identity of the macrofossil in the respective samples. Since the DNA preservation is good under anoxic conditions, studies on eDNA from aquatic sediments, such as the above, holds potential for a better understanding of the ecological and evolutionary consequences of environmental change (Giguet-Covex et al., 2014; Parducci et al., 2012). Similar to results from terrestrial sediments, eDNA from lake sediments also complements analyses of pollen and macrofossils, validating the combination of traditional and molecular techniques to obtain a more comprehensive picture of biodiversity (Parducci et al., 2013; Pedersen et al., 2013).

2.1.3. Ice cores

Willerslev et al. (1999) showed for the first time that eukaryotic eDNA, representing a diverse assemblage of both plants, fungi,

algae and protists, of both local and distant origin, could be obtained from Holocene ice cores in northern Greenland. Later, eDNA from much older, basal ice cores provided insights into a past ecosystem of plants and arthropods, indicative of a forested southern Greenland 450–800 thousand years ago – almost 2 million years younger than previously presumed (Willerslev et al., 2007).

2.2. Modern environments

2.2.1. Surface soil

While studies on soil eDNA began on ancient deposits (sediments), there have been several recent applications to modern ecosystems. Total soil DNA includes both intra- and extracellular DNA, the latter of which probably being the most significant part (Levy-Booth et al., 2007; Pietramellara et al., 2008). Metabarcoding of eDNA from surface soil has thus efficiently been used as a proxy for plant taxonomic diversity in several different terrestrial ecosystems (Taberlet et al., 2012c; Yoccoz et al., 2012). The applicability of soil eDNA has also been widely demonstrated for fungi (reviewed by Anderson and Cairney, 2004; Chase and Fay, 2009), for example by using DNA metabarcoding from various forest soils, revealing rich and diverse fungal communities (Buee et al., 2009; O'Brien et al., 2005). As for animal eDNA in modern soil samples, Bienert et al. (2012) demonstrated that earthworm communities an important indicator group of ecosystem functioning and health - can be identified using next-generation sequencing, whereas Andersen et al. (2012) found that DNA from the soil surface reflects overall taxonomic richness and relative biomass of individual vertebrate species.

2.2.2. Freshwater

One of the first studies retrieving macro-organismal eDNA from freshwater, focused on DNA from human, cow, pig and sheep, as a method to detect the sources in faecally contaminated surface water (Martellini et al., 2005). Later, eDNA from American bullfrogs, an invasive amphibian species native to North America, was successfully retrieved from natural pond water samples in France (Ficetola et al., 2008). This study initiated a rapidly growing interest in aquatic ecosystems, which have generating numerous studies with direct applications to conservation (e.g. see this journal special issue). Many subsequent studies continued to focus on detection of invasive species. Dejean et al. (2012) demonstrated that eDNA can deliver improved detection of invasive species over traditional methods, using the original model species – American bullfrog. Jerde et al. (2011) studied two species of Asian carps in river systems, which demonstrated that the forefronts of the species were closer to invasion of upstream lake systems than initially seen by traditional surveillance methods. This approach were later expanded significantly (Jerde et al., 2013) and extended to other related fish species in a study that confirmed presence of eDNA also for low-abundance species in river systems (Mahon et al., 2013). Takahara et al. (2013) used eDNA to estimate presence of the invasive bluegill sunfish on Japanese mainlands and surrounding islands. Here eDNA also proved superior to visual detections. Recently, the eDNA approach has been expanded to invasive reptiles (Piaggio et al., 2014), snails (Goldberg et al., 2013) and crustaceans (Tréguier et al., 2014).

Another line of freshwater eDNA reseach concerns endangered species. Here, most studies have focused on detection of amphibians (Goldberg et al., 2011; Olson et al., 2013; Pilliod et al., 2013; Santas et al., 2013; Thomsen et al., 2012b) and even quantification (Pilliod et al., 2013; Thomsen et al., 2012b), which provides a potential new range of opportunities for estimating relative abundance. Quantification of fish biomass from fresh water samples has also been attempted (Takahara et al., 2012), as well as species composition and communities (Minamoto et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012), as well as species composition and communities (Minamoto et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012), as well as species composition and communities (Minamoto et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012), as well as species et al., 2012), as well as species composition and communities (Minamoto et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012), as well as species composition and communities (Minamoto et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012).

2012b). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that also endangered freshwater insects, crustaceans, fish and mammals can be monitored using eDNA, and that such an approach can account for entire lake faunas of amphibians and fish using high-throughput sequencing (Thomsen et al., 2012b).

Although Turner et al. (2014) recently found that aqueous macrobial eDNA likely exists predominantly inside mitochondria or small cells, the decay of eDNA in freshwater beyond the threshold of detectability has been demonstrated to happen at a scale of days or weeks (Dejean et al., 2011; Pilliod et al., 2014; Thomsen et al., 2012b). This contrasts situations in soil, where eDNA is proven to persist for decades (and perhaps centuries) after deposition (Andersen et al., 2012; Yoccoz et al., 2012). The rapid degradation time in freshwater ecosystems makes eDNA very useful in conservation, since a positive detection is likely to be associated with contemporary presence of species and populations while potentially misleading signals from past populations are not picked up. Nevertheless, long distance transport of eDNA from hundreds of meters to several kilometres have been reported in river systems, and should be taken into account for flowing waters (Deiner and Altermatt, 2014; Jane et al., 2014).

2.2.3. Seawater

It has been widely demonstrated that microbial (prokaryotic and eukaryotic) biodiversity can be studied by sequencing DNA from filtered seawater samples (Rusch et al., 2007; Sogin et al., 2006; Venter et al., 2004; Zinger et al., 2011). Recently however, Thomsen et al. (2012a) showed that it is possible to detect a rich marine fish fauna by metabarcoding of eDNA from seawater samples, and that such an approach can cover the fish diversity better than or equal to any of 9 methods conventionally used in marine fish surveys. The approach has been validated in a large sea-tank mesocosm, where also rank abundance of recovered eDNA correlated with abundance of corresponding species' biomass (Kelly et al., 2014a). Furthermore, Foote et al. (2012) showed that eDNA from whales can also be detected from seawater samples, and an experimental setup in sea-enclosures indicated the eDNA signal is evident only within short distances (metres) of animals. These are the first evidence that marine water samples contain detectable eDNA from macro-organisms. An experimental setup has shown that even small (100-bp) eDNA fragments in seawater degrades beyond detectability within days (Thomsen et al., 2012a). DNA degradation in seawater has previously been suggested to be substantially faster with an empirical turnover rate as low as 10 h (Dell'Anno and Corinaldesi, 2004). These studies indicate low probability of long-distance dispersal of eDNA in marine ecosystems. Although further studies are needed to validate the eDNA approach in contemporary marine environments, initial studies show promising perspectives for future monitoring and management of marine biodiversity and resources (Kelly et al., 2014b).

3. Ancient environments and extinctions

Ancient eDNA represents a challenge to obtain and verify given that it often has undergone significant degradation (Hansen et al., 2006; Willerslev and Cooper, 2005). Nevertheless, analyzing DNA in an evolutionary timeframe holds an important potential to understand changes in ecosystems and extinctions. This was recently evident by a study of Lorenzen et al. (2011), which analyzed the population history over the past 50,000 years using mtDNA from six big-bodied mammals (megafauna). Coupling this information with climate niche modelling and the archaeological records it became evident that each species reacted individualistically to climate changes and that it is basically impossible to predict which species would go extinct or survive over evolutionary time scales. Although the current study uses mtDNA from ancient remains and does not employ eDNA as such, it demonstrates that DNA can extend the time frame of population demography and help reveal the uncertainties associated with extinction predictions, providing relevant considerations for current species conservation attempts.

Many extinction models are based on predictions as to when the extinction happened (Nogués-Bravo et al., 2008). Again, such estimates rely on dating of macrofossils like teeth and bones. However, the chance of finding some of the youngest individuals in a dwindling population may be hard or impossible and scientists are very unlikely to come across "the last" macrofossil left behind. In this case eDNA from shed skin cells, urine or faces, which is likely to be present and distributed over a larger area, is a valid supplement to establish last appearance dates of species. This was attempted by Haile et al. (2009) in Stevens Village, Alaska. which is among the places where most bones of woolly mammoth have been dated. Dating of these bones have previously suggested an extinction date for woolly mammoth on mainland Alaska some 13,100 years BP. However, the eDNA results suggest survival of mammoth until some 10,500 years BP - ca. 3500 years after first human arrival into mainland Alaska and thus that man and beast co-existed several thousand years prior to extinction of the latter.

In a recent study by Willerslev et al. (2014) more than 200 permafrost samples from 21 sites across the Arctic covering the past 50,000 years were analyzed for plant chloroplast eDNA. Contrary to many pollen studies, the results reveal that the coldest and driest stages during the last ice age (the Last Glacial Maximum, LGM) around 20 thousand years ago was a major bottleneck in plant diversity and that the warmer periods before this bottleneck was richer and more diverse in plant composition than the Holocene period following the LGM, where many new taxa became dominant. As such the study suggests that not only climatic changes but also the recent vegetation history determines how ecosystems develop over time.

4. Pitfalls and challenges for eDNA

Despite obvious perspectives and useful applications using eDNA, several problematic issues associated with the approach needs to be considered. For a more thorough treatment of these issues see Coissac et al. (2012) and Pedersen et al. (in press).

4.1. Contamination

The most serious pitfall of eDNA is probably the risk of contamination and hence the possibility of false positive results. Contamination of samples can occur from taking the samples in the field to every step of analyses in the laboratory. If several localities are sampled after one another in the field, there is a risk of crosscontamination: target DNA carried unintentionally from one locality to another. Lab contamination is especially serious because of the frequent use of PCR in eDNA studies, generating billions of DNA copies, which can readily spread throughout the lab. The use of NGS technologies has further complicated the contamination issue, as they produce a very high throughput of DNA sequences likely to reveal tiny amounts of lab-source PCR products. Cross-contamination in the lab seems almost unavoidable, and it is essential to apply conservative cut-offs for minimum percentages of sequences obtained in a sample, and/or the amplification success in independent PCR reactions, before including a recovered taxon as authentic. A strict clean-lab protocol using decontamination procedures and physical separation of labs for pre- and post-PCR work will significantly limit the contamination risks (Champlot et al., 2010; Willerslev and Cooper, 2005). Inclusion of DNA extraction blanks and PCR blanks, as well as field blanks, to monitor contamination is essential.

4.2. Inhibition

Humic acids or humic substances, co-extracted with DNA in environmental samples, strongly inhibit enzymes such as the *Taq* Polymerase used in PCR reactions to amplify DNA (Matheson et al., 2010). This obviously represents a bias in eDNA studies, which is probably most severe in soil samples, but also occurs in water samples contaminated with sediment particles (McKee et al., 2015; Sigsgaard et al., 2015). If not addressed sufficiently in each study, inhibition can lead to generation of false negative results. Both false positive and false negative results can have consequences for downstream conservation effort leading to over- or under-estimation of a species' occurrence, respectively.

4.3. Errors

Erroneous DNA sequences will, just as contamination, give rise to biased results. Errors can occur either before sampling in longterm preserved DNA (Hansen et al., 2006; Willerslev and Cooper, 2005), during PCR or during sequencing. PCR-generated errors include point mutations and formation of chimeric molecules (Acinas et al., 2005). However, most errors are probably generated during sequencing, and this has shown to overestimate actual microbial diversity by two orders of magnitude (Kunin et al., 2010). For animals, biodiversity signals are also obscured by PCR and/or sequencing errors (Sefc et al., 2007). Therefore, raw sequence data must be carefully filtered to limit false positives and to generate a reliable taxon list (Fig. 1). There is obviously a trade-off between conservative error trimming, and retaining as much information on diversity in the samples as possible (Coissac et al., 2012).

4.4. Reference DNA databases

Identification of DNA sequences derived from environmental samples depends crucially on reliable reference DNA-sequence databases. These are skewed in geographical and taxonomic overage (Kvist, 2013), but global initiatives addressing this need have been established, and databases are rapidly growing (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank, www.boldsystems.org). Accordingly, there are specific initiatives to provide DNA barcodes of all the world's fish (www.fishbol.org), mammal (www. mammaliabol.org) and bird species, (www.barcodingbirds.org) etc. It is clear, though, that the remaining gap in knowledge will for some time impair the usefulness of eDNA monitoring at lower taxonomic levels, where all species have not yet been sequenced. However, the highly frequent COI sequences in these databases are sub-optimal for eDNA metabarcoding (Deagle et al., 2014). We thus suggest, given the massive increase in DNA sequencing cost-efficiency, that future DNA reference databases focus on complete mitochondrial or even nuclear genomes for much wider applications than traditional DNA barcoding.

4.5. Single species detection vs. DNA metabarcoding

Broadly, two different approaches of species detection from eDNA have been deployed: single species detection by PCR or quantitative PCR (qPCR) and multi-species detection (eDNA metabarcoding) by NGS. The former is advantageous where the target is one or a few known species, for which species-specific primers and probes can be developed (Dejean et al., 2012; Takahara et al., 2013; Thomsen et al., 2012b). The approach has high specificity, sensitivity and quantification ability, but is hampered by the limit to detect only one target organism at a time. For more diverse systems, this approach quickly becomes cost-inefficient and even impossible due to lack of DNA extract for multiple reactions. Additionally, many issues remains for reliable quantification of biomass/individuals by eDNA using qPCR. These include Cycle threshold (Ct) cutoff values and percentage of positive replicates for defining true positives from background, as well as proper treatment of negative qPCR replicates (Ellison et al., 2006; Bustin et al., 2009). A standardized number of gPCR replicates is also important to be used consistently throughout a study. Finally, development of more sophisticated modelling for describing DNA production and degradation should be undertaken. The above issues remains to be properly addressed in qPCR based eDNA studies including those from our own group (Thomsen et al., 2012a, 2012b). Here, we did not define strict Ct cut-off values or include non-detect (no Ct) replicates as zero in the calculations of average DNA concentrations. which has been shown to increase accuracy and should be the practice (Ellison et al., 2006). Nevertheless, negative replicates are frequent in eDNA studies where DNA concentration is often low and the sample is a complex mixture of non-target DNA and environmental particles probably influencing oligo efficiency. Thus, template amount is a trade-off between avoiding inhibition and retaining a detectable concentration of target molecules. Fx. Biggs et al. (2015) finds eDNA detection in 1/12 replicates for some samples. Accordingly, some of the standard detection and quantification thresholds defined in the literature might have to be relaxed for eDNA studies. If high Ct values are included, sequencing of the product for verification is crucial (Thomsen et al., 2012a, 2012b).

On the other hand, the DNA metabarcoding approach is powerful and cost-efficient (Thomsen et al., 2012a, 2012b; Yoccoz et al., 2012) and the technology for mass DNA sequencing continues to improve (Schadt et al., 2010; Shokralla et al., 2012). The main drawback, when using generic primers for metabarcoding, is primer affinity bias leading to certain sequences (species) amplifying less efficiently than others (Deagle et al., 2014). This will in turn limit the results to species with best primer affinity or to species, which is already known to be locally present so specific-primers can be designed (Riaz et al., 2011; Wilcox et al., 2013). However, such limitations will continuously become less crucial due to optimization and publication of generic primers for metabarcoding studies.

High-throughput sequencing has also added another level of complexity to the analyses of results, and the massive amount of sequences needs to be filtered in a conservative way to remove low abundant sequence reads that might originate from errors or chimeric sequences. Such denoising is crucial to discriminate authentic molecular diversity from errors and hence to give accurate estimation of the biodiversity represented in the samples and a number of programs are available for sequence data e.g. Amplicon Noise (Quince et al., 2011). A range of tools has been developed to aid processing of NGS data, such as OBITools (www.grenoble.prabi.fr/trac/OBITools) and QIIME (Caporaso et al., 2010). The translation of DNA sequence diversity obtained from metabarcoding of e.g. an environmental sample into actual "species" richness and diversity is not straightforward. First, retrieved sequences are clustered in MOTUs representing supposedly discrete taxons, however this delimitation is sometimes based on arbitrary criteria (Coissac et al., 2012), and is unlikely to be standardized across taxa. When taxonomic coverage of the DNA database is low or non-existent, sequences will remain clustered into MOTUs. The task of retrieving actual species names (important units of conservation) from eDNA metabarcoding results are more challenging due to: (i) limited knowledge of inter- and intra-specific sequence diversity of the targeted DNA-fragment and considerable gaps in DNA sequence databases (Kvist, 2013), (ii) limited genetic variation of target genes of some taxa (Waugh, 2007) and (iii) the limitation of eDNA to short DNA sequences with poor taxonomic resolution. Nevertheless, similar constraints are also associated with species identification using morphological characters. Progress are being made to standardize and improve the clustering and taxonomic identification of sequences from metabarcoding studies (Jones et al., 2011; Puillandre et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2013). However, for obtaining sheer estimates of diversity and richness based on sequence diversity, DNA metabarcoding can essentially be independent of DNA databases and clustering sequences into MOTUs can provide estimates comparable between different localities or at different conditions within a locality.

See further discussion on bioinformatic methods and challenges in Coissac et al. (2012).

4.6. Interpretation of results

Another important issue in eDNA studies concerns the critical interpretation of final results. Here, important caveats associated with eDNA detection compared to traditional surveys includes the failure to distinguish living vs. dead organisms, particular life stages (eggs, juveniles, adults) and hybrid species. The latter is linked to the dominant use of mitochondrial markers. Despite advantages of being useful as DNA barcodes and plentiful in excreted cells, mtDNA can only detect the maternal lineage of a hybrid species. Finally, eDNA, like any other monitoring approach, will only detect a proportion of the total sites occupied by a given species. Using site occupancy models, Schmidt et al. (2013) demonstrated the importance of using rigorous analyses of presence/ absence data to obtain more reliable estimates on species occupancy based on eDNA. Occupancy models can also be used to calculate the number of eDNA samples needed to reach a cumulative detection chance of fx 95% (Schmidt et al., 2013).

4.7. What is the temporal and spatial scale?

For eDNA to be applicable in monitoring and conservation of contemporary biodiversity, it is crucial that results reflect the present state of an ecosystem. While studies of eDNA from water samples have demonstrated rapid degradation times suggesting that results are fairly consistent in space and time (Dejean et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2012a, 2012b), eDNA in soil seems to be able to persist for decades or centuries (Andersen et al., 2012; Yoccoz et al., 2012). This obviously questions the use of eDNA in soil from terrestrial ecosystems in a conservation context and necessitate further studies. However, the potential release of "ancient" eDNA from bottom sediments to the water column (Turner et al. 2015) might also complicate the use of aquatic eDNA as strict contemporary biodiversity surveys. An extreme and highly intriguing example of the borderline between "ancient" and "contemporary" eDNA was recently demonstrated (Overballe-Petersen et al., 2013). Here the authors show experimentally that bacteria can take up ancient and damaged mammoth DNA down to just 20 bp by natural transformation. As a consequence, the diverse pool of DNA in the environment could potentially have shaped the evolution of bacteria by incorporation of this DNA into their genomes through the history of life on Earth. Furthermore, such transformed eDNA fragments could even be re-deposited in the environment following celldeath, which could make eDNA fragments continuously available thousands or millions of years after they were first shed from its original source.

Likewise, the spatial scale of eDNA monitoring is essential to consider for any inferences on the proximity of target organisms compared to their DNA traces left behind. Transport of target eDNA from another locality by e.g. predators or man-made structures represents a potential, yet often insignificant possibility (Jerde et al., 2013). Transport of eDNA within an ecosystems remains an issue especially in flowing waters (Deiner and Altermatt, 2014; Jane et al., 2014; Pilliod et al., 2013) and marine environments (Thomsen et al., 2012a), where long-distance transport is possible.

4.8. Skepticism

The fate of eDNA-based monitoring of biodiversity relies heavily on the validity of results from the scientists and other organizations applying the approach. Skepticism about the general approach from conservation planners will appear, if false results from scientists or companies are unintentionally published. Here, there is a lesson to be learned from ancient DNA research, where enthusiasm in the initial research phase generated spectacular results that were later disproved. These include claims of DNA sequences surviving for millions of years in dinosaur bones (Woodward et al., 1994) or amber inclusions (Cano et al., 1992). However, it is the nature of any new research field to make mistakes, which for ancient DNA meant the adoption of rigorous lab procedures to avoid contamination and high standards for authentication of results. From this history a plea for strict general protocols and authentication of results in conservation-related eDNA studies emerges. Similarly, the implementation of eDNA in conservation management remains a challenge and is subject of debate (Darling and Mahon, 2011).

4.9. Future directions?

Moving from fundamental research to an applied tool in conservation, several aspects need to be more thoroughly investigated before eDNA approaches can be fully matured and integrated into conservation. In this regard we suggest that future research on both terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems should focus on:

- (i) The temporal and spatial distribution of eDNA in different habitats, which gives information as to what part of the biodiversity is monitored in space and time.
- (ii) More precise links between eDNA concentration and species abundance whether this is measured as total biomass or density of individuals.
- (iii) The exact sources of eDNA, whether this comes from sloughed epithelial cells, intestinal cells, faeces and urine, *etc.*, which might vary with life stages of the target organism and could therefore greatly influence abundance estimates. Klymus et al. (2015) shows that an important source of aquatic eDNA might be faeces as eDNA shedding rates increase with feeding.
- (iv) Physio-chemical factors influencing eDNA availability and degradation such as temperature, pH and salinity. Barnes et al. (2014) showed that a high degree of biological activity, measured as chlorophyll concentration, biological oxygen demand (BOD) and total eDNA, decreased the degradation rate of eDNA, perhaps due to shielding of eDNA from UV radiation by algae. Furthermore, Strickler et al. (2015) explored the effect of various abiotic factors (temperature, UV-radiation and pH) on eDNA degradation, which indicated that high DNA degradation rates were associated with conditions favourable for microbial growth.

Finally, we find it intriguing to explore the possibility of obtaining much longer fragments than the usually targeted 100–200 bp, target nuclear genes and test the eDNA metabarcoding approach more thoroughly in truly high-diverse ecosystems such as the tropics. Such advances would lead the way for important conservation measures like species-level identification and population genetics using environmental samples.

5. Perspectives of eDNA

Obtaining accurate data on species distributions and extinctions is by no means trivial. Establishing when a species is extinct will inevitably be an assumption based on the last remains of a species. Bones, hair, tissue and other visible fossil remains left behind will only represent a fraction of a given species' history on Earth. DNA left in the environment represents the invisible traces from past species still left for scientists to analyze. eDNA is likely to be much more ubiquitous in the environment than the macrofossils not yet destroyed beyond recognition due to millennia of weather and mechanical degradation, simply because of the sheer amount of cells in an organism or its remains left in the environment through time. As such, eDNA is easier to sample in a stratified and comparable manner across ancient ecosystems in order to establishing more accurate last appearance dates of extinct species. Likewise, information on contemporary species distributions, including those thought to be recently extinct can be difficult to obtain. Here, eDNA can be used to efficiently monitor invasive, cryptic, endangered or presumably extinct species of conservation concern. Analyses of ancient environments using eDNA does not speak directly to present-day conservation issues, but understanding how species become extinct in the past provides important information of the unpredictability often associated with population fluctuations and the role of humans in these processes (Haile et al., 2009: Lorenzen et al., 2011) and it demonstrates how eDNA can be an important (or the only) source to provide this information (Willerslev et al., 2014). Acknowledging this history provides a more robust platform for applying eDNA in conservation.

Keeping in mind the limitations and methodology challenges mentioned in Section 4, eDNA approaches does offer some great advantages over traditional methods in biodiversity monitoring. Here we highlight the following:

- (i) *Standardization*: Even though there are still methodological optimization to be done (Deiner et al., 2015; Takahara et al., 2015), obtaining an environmental sample can be carried out in a very standardized manner across localities in a given type of habitat. This is more difficult using traditional methods where, in general, results depend on the taxonomic knowledge and experience by personnel carrying out the surveys.
- (ii) *Non-invasiveness*: eDNA is a truly non-invasive method that inflicts no damage on the species or habitats under study.
- (iii) Sensitivity: In situations where species of conservation importance have cryptic life styles or require the study of juvenile life stages that are difficult to identify from closely related species, even high-quality taxonomic expertise are often inadequate. Here eDNA methods can prove superior to traditional methods in detection of species (e.g. Dejean et al., 2012; Biggs et al., 2015).
- (iv) Cost-effectiveness: It would be wrong to state generally that eDNA is more cost-efficient than traditional methods as this depends on the target species (Herder et al., 2014). Nevertheless, several studies report shorter handling time and lower cost using eDNA compared to traditional monitoring techniques (Jerde et al., 2011; Biggs et al., 2015; Sigsgaard et al., 2015). As the price of sequencing per base-pair continues to decline exponentially, eDNA will in many cases undoubtedly become superior to some traditional methods, especially when using a metabarcoding approach.
- (v) Independence of weather conditions: For several species (e.g. amphibians), traditional surveys are difficult outside particular seasons or certain weather conditions where vocal activity of adults are peaking. However, eDNA may remain

in their habitat also outside of these high-activity periods (e.g. from juveniles), extending the time for monitoring. For other species (e.g. fish), harsh weather conditions can impede the usage of traditional fishing equipment but not eDNA sampling.

The advance in DNA sequencing technologies has significantly expanded the possibilities of using eDNA and is expected to continue improving in the future. Although the first studies using eDNA relied on cloning and subsequent Sanger sequencing of PCR products and many still do, there is no doubt that the new emerging sequencing technologies will have profound impact on eDNA studies (Shokralla et al., 2012), and become a fully integrated part of ecologists' toolbox (Baird and Hajibabaei, 2012; Taberlet et al., 2012b; Valentini et al., 2009b). Furthermore, new generations of powerful technologies such as novel real-time sequencing techniques e.g. PacBio RS by Pacific Bioscience® or Nanopore-based sequencing by Oxford Nanopore Technologies[®], carbon nanotube chips (Mahon et al., 2011) and real-time laser transmission spectroscopy (Egan et al., 2013; Li et al., 2011), are awaiting full trial of their promising potential in eDNA approaches. It is thus expected that the use of eDNA in conservation and biological monitoring will move from single-marker analyses of species or communities to meta-genomic surveys of entire ecosystems for predicting spatial and temporary biodiversity patterns (Davies et al., 2012; Kelly et al., 2014b).

We wish to emphasize that eDNA approaches will complement rather than replace traditional monitoring. This is evident from the literature on sediments, where macrofossils, pollen and classical surveys on the flora complements sedaDNA (Parducci et al., 2013; Pedersen et al., 2013), and inferior detection probabilities of eDNA for some freshwater taxa (Thomsen et al., 2012b). Furthermore, the final process of eDNA analyses (the one that can hardly be standardized) is the interpretation of the results, and here the necessity of well-trained taxonomists and ecologists to meaningfully interpret results and recommend subsequent actions cannot be stressed enough.

Ultimately, we are looking to the most comprehensive way of utilizing eDNA for the benefit of our planet and all of its inhabitants. Environmental DNA will merely be a means to monitor biodiversity and provide fast and efficient insights on the distribution of species, estimation of abundance and ultimately perhaps population sizes, which all provides the basis of taking appropriate conservation actions. As such, it will never directly combat the biodiversity crisis, which remains a more complicated issue requiring especially political will, commitment and action.

Acknowledgements

We thank Lars Holm for artwork and the Danish National Research Foundation for funding. We also thank the anonymous reviewers for valuable input.

References

- Acinas, S.G., Sarma-Rupavtarm, R., Klepac-Ceraj, V., Polz, M.F., 2005. PCR-induced sequence artifacts and bias: insights from comparison of two 16S rRNA clone libraries constructed from the same sample. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 8966– 8969. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.12.8966-8969.2005.
- Andersen, K., Bird, K.L., Rasmussen, M., Haile, J., Breuning-Madsen, H., Kjaer, K.H., Orlando, L., Gilbert, M.T.P., Willerslev, E., 2012. Meta-barcoding of "dirt" DNA from soil reflects vertebrate biodiversity. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1966–1979. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05261.x.
- Anderson, I.C., Cairney, J.W.G., 2004. Diversity and ecology of soil fungal communities: increased understanding through the application of molecular techniques. Environ. Microbiol. 6, 769–779. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2004.00675.x.

- Anderson-Carpenter, L.L., McLachlan, J.S., Jackson, S.T., Kuch, M., Lumibao, C.Y., Poinar, H.N., 2011. Ancient DNA from lake sediments: bridging the gap between paleoecology and genetics. BMC Evol. Biol. 11, 30.
- Baird, D.J., Hajibabaei, M., 2012. Biomonitoring 2.0: a new paradigm in ecosystem assessment made possible by next-generation DNA sequencing. Mol. Ecol. 21, 2039–2044.
- Baldwin, C.C., Collette, B.B., Parenti, L.R., Smith, D.G., Springer, V.G., 1996. Collecting fishes. In: Lang, M.A., Baldwin, C.C. (Eds.), Methods and Techniques of Underwater Research, Proceedings of the 16th Annual Scientific Diving Symposium, American Academy of Underwater Sciences, pp. 11–33.
- Barnes, M.A., Turner, C.R., Jerde, C.L., Renshaw, M.A., Chadderton, W.L., Lodge, D.M., 2014. Environmental conditions influence eDNA persistence in aquatic systems. Environ. Sci. Technol. 48, 1819–1827. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es404734p.
- Barnosky, A.D., Matzke, N., Tomiya, S., Wogan, G.O.U., Swartz, B., Quental, T.B., Marshall, C., McGuire, J.L., Lindsey, E.L., Maguire, K.C., Mersey, B., Ferrer, E.A., 2011. Has the Earth/'s sixth mass extinction already arrived? Nature 471, 51– 57. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature09678.
- Bellemain, E., Carlsen, T., Brochmann, C., Coissac, E., Taberlet, P., Kauserud, H., 2010. ITS as an environmental DNA barcode for fungi: an in silico approach reveals potential PCR biases. BMC Microbiol. 10, 189.
- Bhadury, P., Austen, M.C., Bilton, D.T., Lambshead, P.J.D., Rogers, A.D., Smerdon, G.R., 2006. Molecular detection of marine nematodes from environmental samples: overcoming eukaryotic interference. Aquat. Microb. Ecol. 44, 97–103.
- Bienert, F., De Danieli, S., Miquel, C., Coissac, E., Poillot, C., Brun, J.-J., Taberlet, P., 2012. Tracking earthworm communities from soil DNA. Mol. Ecol. 21, 2017– 2030. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05407.x.
- Biggs J., Ewald, N., Valentini, A., Gaboriaud C., Dejean, T., Griffiths R.A., Foster, J., et al. 2015. Using eDNA to develop a national citizen science-based monitoring programme for the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus). Biol. Cons. 183, 19–28
- Brock, T., 1987. The study of microorganisms in-situ: progress and problems. In: Fletcher, M., Gray, T., Jones, J. (Eds.), Cambridge University Press, pp. 1–17.
- Buee, M., Reich, M., Murat, C., Morin, E., Nilsson, R.H., Uroz, S., Martin, F., 2009. 454 Pyrosequencing analyses of forest soils reveal an unexpectedly high fungal diversity. New Phytol. 184, 449–456. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.03003.x.
- Bunce, M., Szulkin, M., Lerner, H.R.L., Barnes, I., Shapiro, B., Cooper, A., Holdaway, R.N., 2005. Ancient DNA provides new insights into the evolutionary history of New Zealand's extinct giant eagle. PLoS Biol 3, e9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pbio.0030009.
- Bustin, S.A., Benes, V., Garson, J.A., Hellemans, J., Huggett, J., Kubista, M., Mueller, R., Nolan, T., Pfaffl, M.W., Shipley, G.L., Vandersompele, J., Wittwer, C.T., 2009. The MIQE Guidelines: Minimum Information for Publication of QuantitativeReal-Time PCR Experiments. Clin Chem. 55, 611–622.
- Butchart, S.H.M., Walpole, M., Collen, B., van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Almond, R.E.A., Baillie, J.E.M., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., Carpenter, K.E., Carr, G.M., Chanson, J., Chenery, A.M., Csirke, J., Davidson, N.C., Dentener, F., Foster, M., Galli, A., Galloway, J.N., Genovesi, P., Gregory, R.D., Hockings, M., Kapos, V., Lamarque, J.-F., Leverington, F., Loh, J., McGeoch, M.A., McRae, L., Minasyan, A., Morcillo, M.H., Oldfield, T.E.E., Pauly, D., Quader, S., Revenga, C., Sauer, J.R., Skolnik, B., Spear, D., Stanwell-Smith, D., Stuart, S.N., Symes, A., Tierney, M., Tyrrell, T.D., Vié, J.-C., Watson, R., 2010. Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. Science 328, 1164–1168. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1187512.
- Calvignac-Spencer, S., Merkel, K., Kutzner, N., Kühl, H., Boesch, C., Kappeler, P.M., Metzger, S., Schubert, G., Leendertz, F.H., 2013. Carrion fly-derived DNA as a tool for comprehensive and cost-effective assessment of mammalian biodiversity. Mol. Ecol. 22, 915–924. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mec.12183.
- Cano, R.J., Poinar, H.H., Poinar Jr., G.O., 1992. Isolation and partial characterisation of DNA from the bee Proplebeia dominicana (Apidae: Hymenoptera) in 25–40 million year old amber. Med. Sci. Res. 20, 249–251.
- Caporaso, J.G., Kuczynski, J., Stombaugh, J., Bittinger, K., Bushman, F.D., Costello, E.K., Fierer, N., Peña, A.G., Goodrich, J.K., Gordon, J.I., Huttley, G.A., Kelley, S.T., Knights, D., Koenig, J.E., Ley, R.E., Lozupone, C.A., McDonald, D., Muegge, B.D., Pirrung, M., Reeder, J., Sevinsky, J.R., Turnbaugh, P.J., Walters, W.A., Widmann, J., Yatsunenko, T., Zaneveld, J., Knight, R., 2010. QIIME allows analysis of highthroughput community sequencing data. Nat. Methods 7, 335–336. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.f.303.
- Champlot, S., Berthelot, C., Pruvost, M., Bennett, E.A., Grange, T., Geigl, E.-M., 2010. An efficient multistrategy DNA decontamination procedure of PCR reagents for hypersensitive PCR applications. PLoS ONE 5, e13042. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0013042.
- Chariton, A.A., Court, L.N., Hartley, D.M., Colloff, M.J., Hardy, C.M., 2010. Ecological assessment of estuarine sediments by pyrosequencing eukaryotic ribosomal DNA. Front. Ecol. Environ. 8, 233–238. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/090115.
- Chase, M.W., Fay, M.F., 2009. Barcoding of plants and fungi. Science 325, 682–683. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1176906.
- Coissac, E., Riaz, T., Puillandre, N., 2012. Bioinformatic challenges for DNA metabarcoding of plants and animals. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1834–1847. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05550.x.
- Corinaldesi, C., Barucca, M., Luna, G.M., Dell'anno, A., 2011. Preservation, origin and genetic imprint of extracellular DNA in permanently anoxic deep-sea sediments. Mol. Ecol. 20, 642–654. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2010.04958.x.
- Daan, N., 2001. The IBTS database: a plea for quality control. ICES CM 3, 1-5.
- Darling, J.A., Mahon, A.R., 2011. From molecules to management: adopting DNAbased methods for monitoring biological invasions in aquatic environments. Environ. Res. 111, 978–988. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.02.001.

- Davies, N., Meyer, C., Gilbert, J.A., Amaral-Zettler, L., Deck, J., Bicak, M., Rocca-Serra, P., Assunta-Sansone, S., Willis, K., Field, D., 2012. A call for an international network of genomic observatories (GOs). GigaScience 1, 5.
- Deagle, B.E., Eveson, J.P., Jarman, S.N., 2006. Quantification of damage in DNA recovered from highly degraded samples – a case study on DNA in faeces. Front. Zool. 3, 11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-3-11.
- Deagle, B.E., Jarman, S.N., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Taberlet, P., 2014. DNA metabarcoding and the cytochrome c oxidase subunit I marker: not a perfect match. Biol. Lett. 10, 20140562. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2014.0562.
- Deiner, K., Altermatt, F., 2014. Transport distance of invertebrate environmental DNA in a natural river. PLoS ONE 9, e88786. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0088786.
- Deiner, K., Walser, J.-C., M\u00e4chler, E., Altermatt, F., 2015. Choice of capture and extraction methods affect detection of freshwater biodiversity from environmental DNA. Biol. Cons. 183, 53–63.
- Dejean, T., Valentini, A., Duparc, A., Pellier-Cuit, S., Pompanon, F., Taberlet, P., Miaud, C., 2011. Persistence of environmental DNA in freshwater ecosystems. PLoS ONE 6, e23398. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023398.
- Dejean, T., Valentini, A., Miquel, C., Taberlet, P., Bellemain, E., Miaud, C., 2012. Improved detection of an alien invasive species through environmental DNA barcoding: the example of the American bullfrog *Lithobates catesbeianus*. J. Appl. Ecol. 49, 953–959. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02171.x.
- Dell'Anno, A., Corinaldesi, C., 2004. Degradation and turnover of extracellular DNA in marine sediments: ecological and methodological considerations. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 4384–4386. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.7.4384-4386.2004.
- Dell'Anno, A., Danovaro, R., 2005. Extracellular DNA plays a key role in deep-sea ecosystem functioning. Science 309. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.1117475, 2179–2179.
- Diaz, S., Fargione, J., Chapin III, F.S., Tilman, D., 2006. Biodiversity loss threatens human well-being. PLoS Biol 4, e277. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pbio.0040277.
- Dirzo, R., Young, H.S., Galetti, M., Ceballos, G., Isaac, N.J.B., Collen, B., 2014. Defaunation in the anthropocene. Science 345, 401–406. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1251817.
- Egan, S.P., Barnes, M.A., Hwang, C.-T., Mahon, A.R., Feder, J.L., Ruggiero, S.T., Tanner, C.E., Lodge, D.M., 2013. Rapid Invasive species detection by combining environmental DNA with light transmission spectroscopy: eDNA-LTS species detection. Conserv. Lett. 6, 402–409. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/conl.12017.
- Ellison, S.L., English, C.A., Burns, M.J., Keer, J.T., 2006. Routes to improving the reliability of low level DNA analysis using real-time PCR. BMC Biotechnology 6 (1), 33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/1472-6750-6-33.
- Epp, L.S., Boessenkool, S., Bellemain, E.P., Haile, J., Esposito, A., Riaz, T., ErséUs, C., Gusarov, V.I., Edwards, M.E., Johnsen, A., Stenølen, H.K., Hassel, K., Kauserud, H., Yoccoz, N.G., BräThen, K.A., Willerslev, E., Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., Brochmann, C., 2012. New environmental metabarcodes for analysing soil DNA: potential for studying past and present ecosystems. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1821–1833. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05537.x.
- Ficetola, G.F., Miaud, C., Pompanon, F., Taberlet, P., 2008. Species detection using environmental DNA from water samples. Biol. Lett. 4, 423–425. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2008.0118.
- Fierer, N., Jackson, R.B., 2006. The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 103, 626–631.
- Fisher, M.M., Triplett, E.W., 1999. Automated approach for ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis of microbial diversity and its application to freshwater bacterial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65, 4630–4636.
- Fonseca, V.G., Carvalho, G.R., Sung, W., Johnson, H.F., Power, D.M., Neill, S.P., Packer, M., Blaxter, M.L., Lambshead, P.J.D., Thomas, W.K., Creer, S., 2010. Secondgeneration environmental sequencing unmasks marine metazoan biodiversity. Nat. Commun. 1, 98. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms1095.Foote, A.D., Thomsen, P.F., Sveegaard, S., Wahlberg, M., Kielgast, J., Kyhn, L.A.,
- Foote, A.D., Thomsen, P.F., Sveegaard, S., Wahlberg, M., Kielgast, J., Kyhn, L.A., Salling, A.B., Galatius, A., Orlando, L., Gilbert, M.T.P., 2012. Investigating the potential use of environmental DNA (eDNA) for genetic monitoring of marine mammals. PloS One 7, e41781. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0041781.
- Giguet-Covex, C., Pansu, J., Arnaud, F., Rey, P.-J., Griggo, C., Gielly, L., Domaizon, I., Coissac, E., David, F., Choler, P., Poulenard, J., Taberlet, P., 2014. Long livestock farming history and human landscape shaping revealed by lake sediment DNA. Nat. Commun. 5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms4211.
- Goldberg, C.S., Pilliod, D.S., Arkle, R.S., Waits, L.P., 2011. Molecular detection of vertebrates in stream water: a demonstration using rocky mountain tailed frogs and idaho giant salamanders. PLoS ONE 6, e22746. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0022746.
- Goldberg, C.S., Sepulveda, A., Ray, A., Baumgardt, J., Waits, L.P., 2013. Environmental DNA as a new method for early detection of New Zealand mudsnails (*Potamopyrgus antipodarum*). Freshw. Sci. 32, 792–800. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1899/13-046.1.
- Haile, J., Holdaway, R., Oliver, K., Bunce, M., Gilbert, M.T.P., Nielsen, R., Munch, K., Ho, S.Y.W., Shapiro, B., Willerslev, E., 2007. Ancient DNA chronology within sediment deposits: are paleobiological reconstructions possible and is DNA leaching a factor? Mol. Biol. Evol. 24, 982–989. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ molbev/msm016.
- Haile, J., Froese, D.G., MacPhee, R.D., Roberts, R.G., Arnold, L.J., Reyes, A.V., Rasmussen, M., Nielsen, R., Brook, B.W., Robinson, S., 2009. Ancient DNA reveals late survival of mammoth and horse in interior Alaska. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 22352–22357.

- Hajibabaei, M., Shokralla, S., Zhou, X., Singer, G.A.C., Baird, D.J., 2011. Environmental barcoding: a next-generation sequencing approach for biomonitoring applications using river benthos. PLoS ONE 6, e17497. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.13711/journal.pone.0017497.
- Hansen, A.J., Mitchell, D.L., Wiuf, C., Paniker, L., Brand, T.B., Binladen, J., Gilichinsky, D.A., Rønn, R., Willerslev, E., 2006. Crosslinks rather than strand breaks determine access to ancient DNA sequences from frozen sediments. Genetics 173, 1175–1179. http://dx.doi.org/10.1534/genetics.106.057349.
- Hebert, P.D., Cywinska, A., Ball, S.L., 2003. Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 270, 313–321.
- Hebsgaard, M.B., Gilbert, M.T.P., Arneborg, J., Heyn, P., Allentoft, M.E., Bunce, M., Munch, K., Schweger, C., Willerslev, E., 2009. The farm beneath the sand – an archaeological case study on ancient "dirt" DNA. Antiquity 83, 430–444.
- Herder, J.E., Valentini, A., Bellemain, E., Dejean, T., van Delft, J.J.C.W., Thomsen, P.F., Taberlet, P., 2014. Environmental DNA – a review of the possible applications for the detection of (invasive) species. Stichting RAVON, Nijmegen, Report 2013-104.
- Hofreiter, M., Mead, J.I., Martin, P., Poinar, H.N., 2003. Molecular caving. Curr. Biol. 13, R693–R695.
- Hollingsworth, P.M., Forrest, L.L., Spouge, J.L., Hajibabaei, M., Ratnasingham, S., van der Bank, M., Chase, M.W., Cowan, R.S., Erickson, D.L., Fazekas, A.J., 2009. A DNA barcode for land plants. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106, 12794–12797.
- Hopkins, G.W., Freckleton, R.P., 2002. Declines in the numbers of amateur and professional taxonomists: implications for conservation. Anim. Conserv. 5, 245– 249. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S1367943002002299.
- Jane, S.F., Wilcox, T.M., McKelvey, K.S., Young, M.K., Schwartz, M.K., Lowe, W.H., Letcher, B.H., Whiteley, A.R., 2014. Distance, flow and PCR inhibition: eDNA dynamics in two headwater streams. Mol. Ecol. Resour. n/a-n/a. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12285.
- Jerde, C.L., Mahon, A.R., Chadderton, W.L., Lodge, D.M., 2011. "Sight-unseen" detection of rare aquatic species using environmental DNA: eDNA surveillance of rare aquatic species. Conserv. Lett. 4, 150–157. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1755-263X.2010.00158.x.
- Jerde, C.L., Chadderton, W.L., Mahon, A.R., Renshaw, M.A., Corush, J., Budny, M.L., Mysorekar, S., Lodge, D.M., 2013. Detection of Asian carp DNA as part of a Great Lakes basin-wide surveillance program. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70, 522–526. http://dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2012-0478.
- Ji, Y., Ashton, L., Pedley, S.M., Edwards, D.P., Tang, Y., Nakamura, A., Kitching, R., Dolman, P.M., Woodcock, P., Edwards, F.A., Larsen, T.H., Hsu, W.W., Benedick, S., Hamer, K.C., Wilcove, D.S., Bruce, C., Wang, X., Levi, T., Lott, M., Emerson, B.C., Yu, D.W., 2013. Reliable, verifiable and efficient monitoring of biodiversity via metabarcoding, Ecol. Lett. 16, 1245–1257. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ele.12162.
- Johnson, S.S., Hebsgaard, M.B., Christensen, T.R., Mastepanov, M., Nielsen, R., Munch, K., Brand, T., Gilbert, M.T.P., Zuber, M.T., Bunce, M., Rønn, R., Gilichinsky, D., Froese, D., Willerslev, E., 2007. Ancient bacteria show evidence of DNA repair. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 14401–14405. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0706787104.
- Jones, J.B., 1992. Environmental impact of trawling on the seabed: a review. N. Z. J. Mar. Freshw. Res. 26, 59–67. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 00288330.1992.9516500.
- Jones, M., Ghoorah, A., Blaxter, M., 2011. JMOTU and taxonerator: turning DNA barcode sequences into annotated operational taxonomic units. PLoS ONE 6, e19259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019259.
- Jørgensen, T., Haile, J., MöLler, P., Andreev, A., Boessenkool, S., Rasmussen, M., Kienast, F., Coissac, E., Taberlet, P., Brochmann, C., Bigelow, N.H., Andersen, K., Orlando, L., Gilbert, M.T.P., Willerslev, E., 2012a. A comparative study of ancient sedimentary DNA, pollen and macrofossils from permafrost sediments of northern Siberia reveals long-term vegetational stability: comparative study of ancient sedimentary DNA, pollen and macrofossils. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1989–2003. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05287.x.
- Jørgensen, T., Kjaer, K.H., Haile, J., Rasmussen, M., Boessenkool, S., Andersen, K., Coissac, E., Taberlet, P., Brochmann, C., Orlando, L., Gilbert, M.T.P., Willerslev, E., 2012b. Islands in the ice: detecting past vegetation on Greenlandic nunataks using historical records and sedimentary ancient DNA Meta-barcoding: islands in the ice. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1980–1988. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05278.x.
- Kelly, R.P., Port, J.A., Yamahara, K.M., Crowder, L.B., 2014a. Using environmental DNA to census marine fishes in a large mesocosm. PLoS ONE 9, e86175. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086175.
- Kelly, R.P., Port, J.A., Yamahara, K.M., Martone, R.G., Lowell, N., Thomsen, P.F., Mach, M.E., Bennett, M., Prahler, E., Caldwell, M.R., Crowder, L.B., 2014b. Harnessing DNA to improve environmental management. Science 344, 1455–1456. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1251156.
- Klymus, K.E., Richter, C.A., Chapman, D.C., Paukert, C., 2015. Quantification of eDNA shedding rates from invasive bighead carp Hypophthalmichthys nobilis and silver carp Hypophthalmichthys molitrix. Biol. Cons. 183, 77–84.
- Kunin, V., Engelbrektson, A., Ochman, H., Hugenholtz, P., 2010. Wrinkles in the rare biosphere: pyrosequencing errors can lead to artificial inflation of diversity estimates. Environ. Microbiol. 12, 118–123. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2009.02051.x.
- Kvist, S., 2013. Barcoding in the dark?: a critical view of the sufficiency of zoological DNA barcoding databases and a plea for broader integration of taxonomic knowledge. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 69, 39–45. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.ympev.2013.05.012.
- Levy-Booth, D.J., Campbell, R.G., Gulden, R.H., Hart, M.M., Powell, J.R., Klironomos, J.N., Pauls, K.P., Swanton, C.J., Trevors, J.T., Dunfield, K.E., 2007. Cycling of

extracellular DNA in the soil environment. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39, 2977–2991. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.06.020.

- Li, F., Mahon, A.R., Barnes, M.A., Feder, J., Lodge, D.M., Hwang, C.-T., Schafer, R., Ruggiero, S.T., Tanner, C.E., 2011. Quantitative and rapid DNA detection by laser transmission spectroscopy. PLoS ONE 6, e29224. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0029224.
- Lorenzen, E.D., Nogués-Bravo, D., Orlando, L., Weinstock, J., Binladen, J., Marske, K.A., Ugan, A., Borregaard, M.K., Gilbert, M.T.P., Nielsen, R., Ho, S.Y.W., Goebel, T., Graf, K.E., Byers, D., Stenderup, J.T., Rasmussen, M., Campos, P.F., Leonard, J.A., Koepfli, K.-P., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Stafford, T.W., Aaris-Sørensen, K., Batra, P., Haywood, A.M., Singarayer, J.S., Valdes, P.J., Boeskorov, G., Burns, J.A., Davydov, S.P., Haile, J., Jenkins, D.L., Kosintsev, P., Kuznetsova, T., Lai, X., Martin, L.D., McDonald, H.G., Mol, D., Meldgaard, M., Munch, K., Stephan, E., Sablin, M., Sommer, R.S., Sipko, T., Scott, E., Suchard, M.A., Tikhonov, A., Willerslev, R., Wayne, R.K., Cooper, A., Hofreiter, M., Sher, A., Shapiro, B., Rahbek, C., Willerslev, E., 2011. Species-specific responses of late quaternary megafauna to climate and humans. Nature 479, 359–364. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature10574.
- Lydolph, M.C., Jacobsen, J., Arctander, P., Gilbert, M.T.P., Gilichinsky, D.A., Hansen, A.J., Willerslev, E., Lange, L., 2005. Beringian paleoecology inferred from permafrost-preserved fungal DNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 1012–1017. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.2.1012-1017.2005.
- Mahon, A.R., Barnes, M.A., Senapati, S., Feder, J.L., Darling, J.A., Chang, H.-C., Lodge, D.M., 2011. Molecular detection of invasive species in heterogeneous mixtures using a microfluidic carbon nanotube platform. PLoS ONE 6, e17280. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017280.
- Mahon, A.R., Jerde, C.L., Galaska, M., Bergner, J.L., Chadderton, W.L., Lodge, D.M., Hunter, M.E., Nico, L.G., 2013. Validation of eDNA surveillance sensitivity for detection of asian carps in controlled and field experiments. PLoS ONE 8, e58316. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058316.
- Martellini, A., Payment, P., Villemur, R., 2005. Use of eukaryotic mitochondrial DNA to differentiate human, bovine, porcine and ovine sources in fecally contaminated surface water. Water Res. 39, 541–548. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.watres.2004.11.012.
- Matheson, C.D., Gurney, C., Esau, N., Lehto, R., 2010. Assessing PCR inhibition from humic substances. Open Enzyme Inhib. J. 3.
- Matisoo-Smith, E., Roberts, K., Welikala, N., Tannock, G., Chester, P., Feek, D., Flenley, J., 2008. Recovery of DNA and pollen from New Zealand lake sediments. Quat. Int. 184, 139–149. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.quaint.2007.09.013.
- McKee, A.M., Spear., S.F., Pierson, T.W., 2015. The effect of dilution and the use of a post-extraction nucleic acid purification column on the accuracy, precision, and inhibition of environmental DNA samples. Biol. Cons. 183, 70–76.
- Minamoto, T., Yamanaka, H., Takahara, T., Honjo, M.N., Kawabata, Z., 2011. Surveillance of fish species composition using environmental DNA. Limnology 13, 193–197. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10201-011-0362-4.
- Nielsen, K.M., Johnsen, P.J., Bensasson, D., Daffonchio, D., 2007. Release and persistence of extracellular DNA in the environment. Environ. Biosafety Res. 6, 37–53. http://dx.doi.org/10.1051/ebr:2007031.
- Nilsson, R.H., Ryberg, M., Abarenkov, K., Sjökvist, E., Kristiansson, E., 2009. The ITS region as a target for characterization of fungal communities using emerging sequencing technologies. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 296, 97–101. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2009.01618.x.
- Nogués-Bravo, D., Rodríguez, J., Hortal, J., Batra, P., Araújo, M.B., 2008. Climate Change, Humans, and the Extinction of the Woolly Mammoth. PLoS Biol 6, e79. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0060079.
- O'Brien, H.E., Parrent, J.L., Jackson, J.A., Moncalvo, J.-M., Vilgalys, R., 2005. Fungal community analysis by large-scale sequencing of environmental samples. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71, 5544–5550. http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.9.5544– 5550.2005.
- Ogram, A., Sayler, G.S., Barkay, T., 1987. The extraction and purification of microbial DNA from sediments. J. Microbiol. Methods 7, 57–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ 0167-7012(87)90025-X.
- Olsen, G.J., Lane, D.J., Giovannoni, S.J., Pace, N.R., Stahl, D.A., 1986. Microbial ecology and evolution: a ribosomal RNA approach. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 40, 337–365. http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.mi.40.100186.002005.
- Olson, Z.H., Briggler, J.T., Williams, R.N., 2013. An eDNA approach to detect eastern hellbenders (Cryptobranchus a. alleganiensis) using samples of water. Wildl. Res. 39, 629. http://dx.doi.org/10.1071/WR12114.
- Overballe-Petersen, S., Harms, K., Orlando, L.A., Mayar, J.V.M., Rasmussen, S., Dahl, T.W., Rosing, M.T., Poole, A.M., Sicheritz-Ponten, T., Brunak, S., 2013. Bacterial natural transformation by highly fragmented and damaged DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 19860–19865.
- Pace, N.R., Stahl, D.A., Lane, D.J., Olsen, G.J., 1986. The analysis of natural microbial populations by ribosomal RNA sequences. In: Marshall, K.C. (Ed.), Advances in Microbial Ecology. Advances in Microbial Ecology, Springer, US, pp. 1–55.
- Parducci, L., Jorgensen, T., Tollefsrud, M.M., Elverland, E., Alm, T., Fontana, S.L., Bennett, K.D., Haile, J., Matetovici, I., Suyama, Y., Edwards, M.E., Andersen, K., Rasmussen, M., Boessenkool, S., Coissac, E., Brochmann, C., Taberlet, P., Houmark-Nielsen, M., Larsen, N.K., Orlando, L., Gilbert, M.T.P., Kjaer, K.H., Alsos, I.G., Willerslev, E., 2012. Glacial survival of boreal trees in Northern Scandinavia. Science 335, 1083–1086. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.1216043.
- Parducci, L., Matetovici, I., Fontana, S.L., Bennett, K.D., Suyama, Y., Haile, J., Kjaer, K.H., Larsen, N.K., Drouzas, A.D., Willerslev, E., 2013. Molecular- and pollenbased vegetation analysis in lake sediments from central Scandinavia. Mol. Ecol. 22, 3511–3524. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/mec.12298.

- Pawlowski, J., Christen, R., Lecroq, B., Bachar, D., Shahbazkia, H.R., Amaral-Zettler, L., Guillou, L., 2011. Eukaryotic Richness in the Abyss: Insights from Pyrotag Sequencing. PLoS ONE 6, e18169. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0018169.
- Pedersen, M.W., Ginolhac, A., Orlando, L., Olsen, J., Andersen, K., Holm, J., Funder, S., Willerslev, E., Kjær, K.H., 2013. A comparative study of ancient environmental DNA to pollen and macrofossils from lake sediments reveals taxonomic overlap and additional plant taxa. Quat. Sci. Rev. 75, 161–168. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.quascirev.2013.06.006.
- Pedersen, M.W., Overballe-Petersen, S., Ermini, L., Der Sarkissian, C., Haile, J., Hellstrom, M., Spens, J., Thomsen, P.F., Bohmann, K., Cappellini, E., Schnell, I.B., Wales, N.A., Carøe, C., Campos, P., Schmidt, A.M.Z., Gilbert, M.T.P., Hansen, A.J., Orlando, L., Willerslev, E., 2015. Ancient and modern environmental DNA. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B. 370, 20130383. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0383.
- Piaggio, A.J., Engeman, R.M., Hopken, M.W., Humphrey, J.S., Keacher, K.L., Bruce, W.E., Avery, M.L., 2014. Detecting an elusive invasive species: a diagnostic PCR to detect Burmese python in Florida waters and an assessment of persistence of environmental DNA. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 14, 374–380. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ 1755–0998.12180.
- Pietramellara, G., Ascher, J., Borgogni, F., Ceccherini, M.T., Guerri, G., Nannipieri, P., 2008. Extracellular DNA in soil and sediment: fate and ecological relevance. Biol. Fertil. Soils 45, 219–235. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00374-008-0345-8.
- Pilliod, D.S., Goldberg, C.S., Arkle, R.S., Waits, L.P., Richardson, J., 2013. Estimating occupancy and abundance of stream amphibians using environmental DNA from filtered water samples. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70, 1123–1130. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1139/cjfas-2013-0047.
- Pilliod, D.S., Goldberg, C.S., Arkle, R.S., Waits, L.P., 2014. Factors influencing detection of eDNA from a stream-dwelling amphibian. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 14, 109–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12159.
- Pimm, S.L., Russell, G.J., Gittleman, J.L., Brooks, T.M., 1995. The future of biodiversity. Science 269, 347–350. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.269.5222.347.
- Poinar, H.N., Hofreiter, M., Spaulding, W.G., Martin, P.S., Stankiewicz, B.A., Bland, H., Evershed, R.P., Possnert, G., Pääbo, S., 1998. Molecular coproscopy: dung and diet of the extinct ground sloth nothrotheriops shastensis. Science 281, 402– 406. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.281.5375.402.
- Pompanon, F., Deagle, B.E., Symondson, W.O.C., Brown, D.S., Jarman, S.N., Taberlet, P., 2012. Who is eating what: diet assessment using next generation sequencing. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1931–1950. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05403.x.
- Puillandre, N., Lambert, A., Brouillet, S., Achaz, G., 2012. ABGD, automatic barcode gap discovery for primary species delimitation. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1864–1877. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05239.x.
- Quince, C., Lanzen, A., Davenport, R.J., Turnbaugh, P.J., 2011. Removing noise from pyrosequenced amplicons. BMC Bioinformatics 12, 38. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1186/1471-2105-12-38.
- Riaz, T., Shehzad, W., Viari, A., Pompanon, F., Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., 2011. EcoPrimers: inference of new DNA barcode markers from whole genome sequence analysis. Nucl. Acids Res. 39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkr732, e145.
- Robertson, D.R., Smith-Vaniz, W.F., 2008. Rotenone: an essential but demonized tool for assessing marine fish diversity. Bioscience 58, 165–170.
- Rusch, D.B., Halpern, A.L., Sutton, G., Heidelberg, K.B., Williamson, S., Yooseph, S., Wu, D., Eisen, J.A., Hoffman, J.M., Remington, K., Beeson, K., Tran, B., Smith, H., Baden-Tillson, H., Stewart, C., Thorpe, J., Freeman, J., Andrews-Pfannkoch, C., Venter, J.E., Li, K., Kravitz, S., Heidelberg, J.F., Utterback, T., Rogers, Y.-H., Falcón, L.I., Souza, V., Bonilla-Rosso, G., Eguiarte, L.E., Karl, D.M., Sathyendranath, S., Platt, T., Bermingham, E., Gallardo, V., Tamayo-Castillo, G., Ferrari, M.R., Strausberg, R.L., Nealson, K., Friedman, R., Frazier, M., Venter, J.C., 2007. The sorcerer II global ocean sampling expedition: northwest Atlantic through eastern tropical pacific. PLoS Biol 5, e77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pbio.0050077.
- Santas, A.J., Persaud, T., Wolfe, B.A., Bauman, J.M., 2013. Noninvasive method for a statewide survey of eastern hellbenders *Cryptobranchus alleganiensis* using environmental DNA. Int. J. Zool. 2013, e174056. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/ 2013/174056.
- Schadt, E.E., Turner, S., Kasarskis, A., 2010. A window into third-generation sequencing. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, R227–R240. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ ddq416.
- Schmidt, B.R., Kéry, M., Ursenbacher, S., Hyman, O.J., Collins, J.P., 2013. Site occupancy models in the analysis of environmental DNA presence/absence surveys: a case study of an emerging amphibian pathogen. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 646–653. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12052.
- Schnell, I.B., Thomsen, P.F., Wilkinson, N., Rasmussen, M., Jensen, L.R.D., Willerslev, E., Bertelsen, M.F., Gilbert, M.T.P., 2012. Screening mammal biodiversity using DNA from leeches. Curr. Biol. 22, R262–R263. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.cub.2012.02.058.
- Schoch, C.L., Seifert, K.A., Huhndorf, S., Robert, V., Spouge, J.L., Levesque, C.A., Chen, W., Bolchacova, E., Voigt, K., Crous, P.W., 2012. Nuclear ribosomal internal transcribed spacer (ITS) region as a universal DNA barcode marker for Fungi. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, 6241–6246.
- Sefc, K.M., Payne, R.B., Sorenson, M.D., 2007. Single base errors in PCR products from avian museum specimens and their effect on estimates of historical genetic diversity. Conserv. Genet. 8, 879–884. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10592-006-9240-8.

- Shokralla, S., Spall, J.L., Gibson, J.F., Hajibabaei, M., 2012. Next-generation sequencing technologies for environmental DNA research. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1794–1805. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05538.x.
- Sigsgaard, E.E., Carl, H., Møller, P.R., Thomsen, P.F., 2015. Monitoring the nearextinct European weather loach in Denmark based on environmental DNA from water samples. Biol. Cons. 183, 46–52.
- Sogin, M.L., Morrison, H.G., Huber, J.A., Welch, D.M., Huse, S.M., Neal, P.R., Arrieta, J.M., Herndl, G.J., 2006. Microbial diversity in the deep sea and the underexplored "rare biosphere". Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 103, 12115–12120. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0605127103.
- Sønstebø, J.H., Gielly, L., Brysting, A.K., Elven, R., Edwards, M., Haile, J., Willerslev, E., Coissac, E., Rioux, D., Sannier, J., Taberlet, P., Brochmann, C., 2010. Using nextgeneration sequencing for molecular reconstruction of past Arctic vegetation and climate. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 10, 1009–1018. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ j.1755-0998.2010.02855.x.
- Strickler, K.M., Fremier, A.K., Goldberg, C.S., 2015. Quantifying effects of UV-B, temperature, and pH on eDNA degradation in aquatic microcosms. Biol. Cons. 183, 85–92.
- Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Gielly, L., Miquel, C., Valentini, A., Vermat, T., Corthier, G., Brochmann, C., Willerslev, E., 2007. Power and limitations of the chloroplast TRNL (UAA) intron for plant DNA barcoding. Nucl. Acids Res. 35. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkl938, e14–e14.
- Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., Hajibabaei, M., Rieseberg, L.H., 2012a. Environmental DNA. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1789–1793.
- Taberlet, P., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Brochmann, C., Willerslev, E., 2012b. Towards next-generation biodiversity assessment using DNA metabarcoding. Mol. Ecol. 21, 2045–2050.
- Taberlet, P., Prud'Homme, S.M., Campione, E., Roy, J., Miquel, C., Shehzad, W., Gielly, L., Rioux, D., Choler, P., CléMent, J.-C., Melodelima, C., Pompanon, F., Coissac, E., 2012c. Soil sampling and isolation of extracellular DNA from large amount of starting material suitable for metabarcoding studies. Mol. Ecol. 21, 1816–1820. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05317.x.
- Takahara, T., Minamoto, T., Yamanaka, H., Doi, H., Kawabata, Z., 2012. Estimation of fish biomass using environmental DNA. PLoS ONE 7, e35868. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0035868.
- Takahara, T., Minamoto, T., Doi, H., 2013. Using environmental DNA to estimate the distribution of an invasive fish species in ponds. PLoS ONE 8, e56584. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0056584.
- Takahara, T., Minamoto, T., Doi, H., 2015. Effects of sample processing on the detection rate of environmental DNA from the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Biol. Cons. 183, 64–69.
- Thomsen, P.F., Elias, S., Gilbert, M.T.P., Haile, J., Munch, K., Kuzmina, S., Froese, D.G., Sher, A., Holdaway, R.N., Willerslev, E., 2009. Non-destructive sampling of ancient insect DNA. PLoS One 4, e5048.
- Thomsen, P.F., Kielgast, J., Iversen, L.L., Møller, P.R., Rasmussen, M., Willerslev, E., 2012a. Detection of a diverse marine fish fauna using environmental DNA from seawater samples. PLoS ONE 7, e41732. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0041732.
- Thomsen, P.F., Kielgast, J., Iversen, L.L., Wiuf, C., Rasmussen, M., Gilbert, M.T.P., Orlando, L., Willerslev, E., 2012b. Monitoring endangered freshwater biodiversity using environmental DNA. Mol. Ecol. 21, 2565–2573. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05418.x.
- Tréguier, A., Paillisson, J.-M., Dejean, T., Valentini, A., Schlaepfer, M.A., Roussel, J.-M., 2014. Environmental DNA surveillance for invertebrate species: advantages and technical limitations to detect invasive crayfish Procambarus clarkii in freshwater ponds. J. Appl. Ecol. 51, 871–879. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12262.
- Tringe, S.G., von Mering, C., Kobayashi, A., Salamov, A.A., Chen, K., Chang, H.W., Podar, M., Short, J.M., Mathur, E.J., Detter, J.C., Bork, P., Hugenholtz, P., Rubin, E.M., 2005. Comparative metagenomics of microbial communities. Science 308, 554–557. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1107851.
- Turner, C.R., Barnes, M.A., Xu, C.C.Y., Jones, S.E., Jerde, C.L., Lodge, D.M., 2014. Particle size distribution and optimal capture of aqueous macrobial eDNA. bioRxiv. http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/001941.
- Turner, C.R., Uy, K.L., Everhart, R.C., 2015. Fish environmental DNA is more concentrated in aquatic sediments than surface water. Biol. Cons. 183, 93–102.
- UNEP, 2011. UNEP/CBD/COP/10/27. Report of the Tenth Meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity. 18–29 October 2010, Nagoya, Japan.
- Valentini, A., Miquel, C., Nawaz, M.A., Bellemain, E., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Gielly, L., Cruaud, C., Nascetti, G., Wincker, P., Swenson, J.E., Taberlet, P., 2009a. New perspectives in diet analysis based on DNA barcoding and parallel pyrosequencing: the *trn* L approach. Mol. Ecol. Resour. 9, 51–60. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2008.02352.x.
- Valentini, A., Pompanon, F., Taberlet, P., 2009b. DNA barcoding for ecologists. Trends Ecol. Evol. 24, 110–117. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.09.011.
- Valiere, N., Taberlet, P., 2000. Urine collected in the field as a source of DNA for species and individual identification. Mol. Ecol. 9, 2150–2152. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1046/j.1365-294X.2000.11142.x.
- Venter, J.C., Remington, K., Heidelberg, J.F., Halpern, A.L., Rusch, D., Eisen, J.A., Wu, D., Paulsen, I., Nelson, K.E., Nelson, W., Fouts, D.E., Levy, S., Knap, A.H., Lomas, M.W., Nealson, K., White, O., Peterson, J., Hoffman, J., Parsons, R., Baden-Tillson, H., Pfannkoch, C., Rogers, Y.-H., Smith, H.O., 2004. Environmental genome shotgun sequencing of the Sargasso Sea. Science 304, 66–74. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1126/science.1093857.

Vié, J.-C., Hilton-Taylor, C., Stuart, S.N., 2009. Wildlife in a changing world: an analysis of the 2008 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. IUCN, Lynx Edicions, Gland; Barcelona.

- Waugh, J., 2007. DNA barcoding in animal species: progress, potential and pitfalls. BioEssays 29, 188–197. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bies.20529.
- Wheeler, Q.D., Raven, P.H., Wilson, E.O., 2004. Taxonomy: impediment or expedient? Science 303. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.303.5656.285, 285– 285.
- Wilcox, T.M., McKelvey, K.S., Young, M.K., Jane, S.F., Lowe, W.H., Whiteley, A.R., Schwartz, M.K., 2013. Robust detection of rare species using environmental DNA: the importance of primer specificity. PLoS ONE 8, e59520. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0059520.
- Willerslev, E., Cooper, A., 2005. Review paper. Ancient DNA. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 272, 3–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2004.2813.
- Willerslev, E., Hansen, A.J., Christensen, B., Steffensen, J.P., Arctander, P., 1999. Diversity of holocene life forms in fossil glacier ice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 96, 8017–8021. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.14.8017.
- Willerslev, E., Hansen, A.J., Binladen, J., Brand, T.B., Gilbert, M.T.P., Shapiro, B., Bunce, M., Wiuf, C., Gilichinsky, D.A., Cooper, A., 2003. Diverse plant and animal genetic records from holocene and pleistocene sediments. Science 300, 791–795. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1084114.
- Willerslev, E., Hansen, A.J., Rønn, R., Brand, T.B., Barnes, I., Wiuf, C., Gilichinsky, D., Mitchell, D., Cooper, A., 2004. Long-term persistence of bacterial DNA. Curr. Biol. 14, R9–R10.
- Willerslev, E., Cappellini, E., Boomsma, W., Nielsen, R., Hebsgaard, M.B., Brand, T.B., Hofreiter, M., Bunce, M., Poinar, H.N., Dahl-Jensen, D., Johnsen, S., Steffensen, J.P., Bennike, O., Schwenninger, J.-L., Nathan, R., Armitage, S., de Hoog, C.-J., Alfimov, V., Christl, M., Beer, J., Muscheler, R., Barker, J., Sharp, M., Penkman, K.E.H., Haile, J., Taberlet, P., Gilbert, M.T.P., Casoli, A., Campani, E., Collins, M.J.,

2007. Ancient biomolecules from deep ice cores reveal a forested Southern Greenland. Science 317, 111–114. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/science.1141758.

- Willerslev, E., Davison, J., Moora, M., Zobel, M., Coissac, E., Edwards, M.E., Lorenzen, E.D., Vestergård, M., Gussarova, G., Haile, J., Craine, J., Gielly, L., Boessenkool, S., Epp, L.S., Pearman, P.B., Cheddadi, R., Murray, D., Bråthen, K.A., Yoccoz, N., Binney, H., Cruaud, C., Wincker, P., Goslar, T., Alsos, I.G., Bellemain, E., Brysting, A.K., Elven, R., Sønstebø, J.H., Murton, J., Sher, A., Rasmussen, M., Rønn, R., Mourier, T., Cooper, A., Austin, J., Möller, P., Froese, D., Zazula, G., Pompanon, F., Rioux, D., Niderkorn, V., Tikhonov, A., Savvinov, G., Roberts, R.G., MacPhee, R.D.E., Gilbert, M.T.P., Kjær, K.H., Orlando, L., Brochmann, C., Taberlet, P., 2014. Fifty thousand years of Arctic vegetation and megafaunal diet. Nature 506, 47–51. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature12921.
- Woodward, Weyand, N.J., Bunnell, M., 1994. DNA sequence from Cretaceous period bone fragments. Science 266, 1229–1232. http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.7973705.
- Yoccoz, N.G., Bråthen, K.A., Gielly, L., Haile, J., Edwards, M.E., Goslar, T., Von Stedingk, H., Brysting, A.K., Coissac, E., Pompanon, F., Sønstebø, J.H., Miquel, C., Valentini, A., De Bello, F., Chave, J., Thuiller, W., Wincker, P., Cruaud, C., Gavory, F., Rasmussen, M., Gilbert, M.T.P., Orlando, L., Brochmann, C., Willerslev, E., Taberlet, P., 2012. DNA from soil mirrors plant taxonomic and growth form diversity. Mol. Ecol. 21, 3647–3655. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2012.05545.x.
- Zhang, J., Kapli, P., Pavlidis, P., Stamatakis, A., 2013. A general species delimitation method with applications to phylogenetic placements. Bioinformatics 29, 2869–2876. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btt499.
- Zinger, L., Amaral-Zettler, L.A., Fuhrman, J.A., Horner-Devine, M.C., Huse, S.M., Welch, D.B.M., Martiny, J.B.H., Sogin, M., Boetius, A., Ramette, A., 2011. Global patterns of bacterial beta-diversity in seafloor and seawater ecosystems. PLoS ONE 6, e24570. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024570.